IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 22-0632

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

LORENZO HARRIS,

Defendant and Appellant.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana Thirteenth Judicial District Court Yellowstone County Cause No. DC 21-0533, Hon. Michael Moses Presiding

Appearances:

Melinda A. Driscoll PLATH KEMMICK LAW, LLC P.O. Box 1337 Billings, MT 59103 406.534.4177 (T) melinda@pklawmt.com

Attorney for Appellant

Tammy Plubell
MONTANA DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
P.O. Box 201440
Helena, MT 59620
406.444.2026 (T)
tplubell@mt.gov

Attorney for Appellee

QUESTION PRESENTED

In a criminal bench trial, where a defendant is charged with homicide, does due process require the trial court to give consideration to lesser included offenses supported in evidence before finding the defendant guilty of the charged offense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is on appeal from Montana's Thirteenth Judicial District, Yellowstone County. Defendant Lorenzo Harris appeals the district court's May 10, 2022, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order, attached hereto as app. 1.

Mr. Harris respectfully moves that this Court reduce the offense of which he was convicted to the lesser included offense of mitigated deliberate homicide, and his case remanded to the district court for resentencing. In the alternative, Mr. Harris requests that the case be remanded to the district court for proceedings on the question of lesser applicable included offenses.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Following a bench trial, Appellant Lorenzo Harris was convicted of one count of deliberate homicide with weapon enhancement in relation to the December 27, 2021, shooting death of James Williams. The shooting occurred at the home of Mr. Harris's mother. Tr. Transcr. day 5, 136-137 (Apr. 1, 2022).

On the night of the homicide, Harris and his brother, Carvell Scott, had invited a small group to the home following a night of drinking at Billings' Shooters Bar. Id. Men within the social circle were commonly known to carry firearms. Tr. Transcr. day 4, 72-73 (Mar. 31, 2022); Tr. Transcr. day 2, 55:4-8, 125:10-12 (Mar. 29, 2022); Tr. Transcr. day 5, 141:20-24 (Apr. 1, 2022). The get-together expanded beyond what Harris and Scott intended, and the brothers attempted to remove people from the home. Id. at 137:1-5, 141, 153:4-7. Multiple fights broke out in the entryway to the house as Scott and Harris attempted to eject people from the home. Tr. Transcr. day 1, 94-98 (Mar. 28, 2022); Tr. Transcr. day 4, 23-25 (Mar. 31, 2022); Tr. Transcr. day 5, 153-154 (Apr. 1, 2022). Harris and Mr. Williams were among the individuals who fought. Id. Mr. Williams overpowered Harris and had him on the ground. *Id.* Guest Dawan Jones intervened, attempting to pull Williams off of Harris. *Id.* Jones testified that he felt someone pushing him from behind while he attempted to lift Williams. Id. Ultimately, all three men tumbled out the

door and fell through the iron handrail on the front porch. *Id.* In the midst of the melee, Mr. Harris fatally shot Mr. Williams. Sentcg. Hrg. Transcr. 82:9-17 (Aug. 4, 2022).

In its May 10, 2022, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order, the trial court wrote:

Significantly, Mr. Scott testified that a lot of fights were happening at the residence that night and that he and Mr. Harris were pushing people out of the residence. This is consistent with Mr. Jones statement describing that after he had picked Mr. Williams up off of Mr. Harris that Mr. Jones and Mr. Williams were pushed outside and ultimately fell off the porch. Additionally, Mr. Scott describes that he was in the entryway when Mr. Jones and Mr. Williams fell. Mr. Scott also described that Mr. Jones and Mr. Williams were the only two that fell off the porch.

FOFCOL 26 ¶ 44 (May 10, 2022).

At trial, there was no factual dispute that multiple fights took place at the family home; that Mr. Williams had bested Harris in a fist fight; that multiple people were crowded and yelling in the small entryway of the home; and that significant jostling occurred between Harris, Williams, Jones, and at least one additional person at the time Williams was shot. Trial counsel did not propose lesser offenses in pretrial proceedings, and the trial court provided no analysis of lesser included offenses.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews the sufficiency of evidence to support a conviction by viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the prosecution and then determining whether any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Haser*, 2001 MT 6, P18, 304 Mont. 63, 20 P.3d 100 (citing *State v. Berger*, 1998 MT 170, P25, 290 Mont. 78, 964 P.2d 725).

This Court "may discretionarily review claimed errors that implicate a criminal defendant's fundamental constitutional rights, even if no contemporaneous objection is made and notwithstanding the inapplicability of the Mont. Code Ann. § 46-20-701(2) criteria, where failing to review the claimed error at issue may result in a manifest miscarriage of justice, may leave unsettled the question of the fundamental fairness of the trial or proceedings, or may compromise the integrity of the judicial process." *State v. Clausell*, 2001 MT 62, 305 Mont. 1, 22 P.3d 1111, 2001 Mont. LEXIS 75 (Mont. 2001).

//

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Harris has a due process right to have all lesser included offenses considered by the Court before he may be found guilty of deliberate homicide. Evidence submitted at trial was not sufficient to prove deliberate homicide with no circumstances of mitigation. At best, the trial evidence showed that Mr. Harris is guilty of mitigated deliberate homicide. Mr. Harris requests that this court apply a lesser included offense pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 46-20-703(3). In the alternative, Mr. Harris requests that his deliberate homicide conviction be vacated, and remanded to the district court for further evidentiary proceedings.

ARGUMENT

I. <u>In a bench trial, where lesser included offenses are supported in evidence, the defendant has a due process right to have those lesser included offenses considered before he may be convicted of a greater offense.</u>

Mr. Harris respectfully requests that this Court exercise its power of discretionary review to address the question of whether the trial court was required to address the lesser included offense of mitigated deliberate homicide. As discussed below, this is a question of the fundamental fairness of the proceedings for Mr. Harris.

No person shall be deprived of his liberty without due process of law. Mont. Const. Art. II, § 6; 14th A. United States Const. A Montana defendant may be convicted only of the "greatest included offense about which there is no reasonable doubt." Mont. Code Ann. § 46-16-606.

A person commits the offense of deliberate homicide if he purposely or knowingly causes the death of another human being. Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-102. A person commits the offense of mitigated deliberate homicide when he purposely or knowingly causes the death of another human being while under the influence of extreme mental or emotional stress for which there is reasonable explanation or excuse. Montana Code Ann. § 45-5-103 (1). In a deliberate homicide case, knowledge or purpose may be inferred from the fact that the accused committed a homicide, and no circumstances of mitigation, excuse, or justification appear. Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-112.

A Montana trial court, sitting as finder of fact, is permitted to *sua* sponte find a criminal defendant guilty of a lesser included offense. State v. Black, 270 Mont. 329, 331, 891 P.2d 1162, 1163 (1995). This Court has not yet considered whether due process requires such a trial court to

consider factually supported lesser offenses before it may adjudicate a defendant guilty of the charged offense.

trial court erred when it failed to analyze whether circumstances of mitigation were present before finding Mr. Harris guilty of deliberate homicide. It is not disputed that Mr. Harris was entangled in a large melee when, sadly, he fired the shot that took Mr. Williams' life. The gathering in his mother's home had grown out of control, and several strangers were present. It was unclear how many of the people in attendance were armed. Harris was taken to the ground by a much larger, unknown individual in his mother's home until he and two others were ultimately ejected from the residence after being shoved out by an unidentified individual. The men were pushed hard enough to collapse an iron handrail, and all three fell from the porch into the yard. These undisputed facts are circumstances which could clearly cause a reasonable person to experience extreme mental and emotional stress, consistent with a finding of mitigated deliberate homicide.

The failure of the trial court to consider the lesser offense violated Mr. Harris's right to due process. Under Montana law, Mr. Harris could only be found guilty of the greatest offense of which all factual elements

could be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. The "deliberate" element of deliberate homicide may be inferred, but *only* where no circumstances of mitigation, excuse, or justification are present. The issue is especially problematic in this case because circumstances which prove the "mitigated" element of mitigated deliberate homicide must be found *in addition* to the elements already necessary to prove deliberate homicide. By not fully following through with a mitigation analysis, the trial court failed to properly address Mr. Harris's level of culpability. For these reasons, Mr. Harris did not receive due process at trial.

II. <u>The evidence presented at trial was not sufficient to prove the</u> necessary mental state for a conviction of deliberate homicide.

As described above, in this case, mitigated deliberate homicide is the greatest included offense about which there is no reasonable doubt. There was clearly no advance plan by Mr. Harris to take Mr. Williams' life. The events happened rapidly, while Mr. Harris was under extreme duress. Mr. Williams was a stranger to Mr. Harris and the occupants of the home. He was a much larger man, and he had overpowered Mr. Harris in the entryway of his mother's home. This occurred in the context of a larger melee in which multiple people were involved, all potentially carrying concealed firearms. A reasonable person could only conclude

that Mr. Harris was under extreme emotional and mental stress when

this unfortunate incident took place.

There is no reasonable doubt that Mr. Harris was under extreme

emotional and mental stress when he shot Mr. Williams. For that reason,

Mr. Harris respectfully moved this Court to apply the lesser offense of

mitigated deliberate homicide and remand to the district court for

resentencing, in accordance with Mont. Code Ann § 46-20-703(3).

CONCLUSION

For the reasons detailed above, Mr. Harris respectfully requests

that this court apply a lesser included offense pursuant to Mont. Code

Ann. § 46-20-703(3). In the alternative, Mr. Harris requests that his

deliberate homicide conviction be vacated, and remanded to the district

court for further evidentiary proceedings.

SUBMITTED this 12th day of August, 2024.

PLATH KEMMICK LAW, LLC