08/27/2025

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 22-0632

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 22-0632

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

LORENZO HARRIS,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Thirteenth Judicial District Court, Yellowstone County, The Honorable Michael Moses, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
CHRISTINE HUTCHISON
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
chutchison@mt.gov

SCOTT TWITO Yellowstone County Attorney P.O. Box 35025 Billings, MT 59107-5025

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

While Harris and Carvell walked around outside and Harris removed his coat, Toni's video showed Dawan entering the living room with nothing in his hands. (State's Ex. 7 at 0:40-0:46.) As Toni made her way to the front door, Dawan said, "where's my bag G?" (*Id.* at 0:45-0:55.) This corroborated Dawan's testimony that he went back into the house to get his backpack after the shooting.

Toni's first video clip ended at 0:59. Toni's second video clip began after Ashayla left with Harris's coat. Meanwhile, security camera footage showed Harris and Carvell walking back into the house. (State's Ex. 91 at 2:48:15-2:48:30.)

Toni's second video clip captured Carvell reentering the house. (State's Ex. 7 at 1:04.)

Toni exited the house off the side of the porch and turned around facing the steps. (*Id.* at 1:17.) In the surveillance videos, a man pointed to the red Pontiac as Harris got into it at the same time a male was heard on Toni's Snapchat video saying "you dropped that nigga" approximately three times. (*Id.* at 1:19-1:21; State's Exs. 91 and 92 at 2:48:46.)

In a video clip Harris posted on December 28, 2020, Harris filmed a white Chevy Impala being towed. (3/31/22 Tr. at 161-62; State's Ex. 167.) Sergeant Kramer explained that the towing company was based out of Moorhead, Minnesota,

and that it served the Fargo, North Dakota area. (3/31/22 Tr. at 161-62.) Sergeant Kramer explained that Harris's cellmate, Brice, had reported that Harris told him he drove to Chicago in a white Chevy Impala after the homicide. (*Id.*)

Sergeant Kramer next addressed Snapchats sent between Harris and another female noting a press release on the shooting that came out before Harris was identified as a suspect. (*Id.* at 162-64.) Sergeant Kramer had also found Snapchats between the two attempting to create an alibi for Harris that were sent before Harris was identified as a suspect. (*Id.* at 166-75; State's Exs. 169, 169A, 170, 170A.)

Detective Yarina obtained jail phone call recordings between Cheyenne and Carvell made after Cheyenne's arrest on a tampering charge related to Harris's case. (3/29/22 Tr. at 75-76.) In the calls, Cheyenne told Carvell that she was mad at Harris because he was the one who chose to do this and he obviously did not even value life. (*Id.*; 4/1/22 Tr. at 146, 165-68.)

Andrew Bishop, a forensic DNA analyst for the Montana State Crime Lab testified that he developed DNA profiles from two swabs of blood drops taken from the south entrance wall of Harris's house. (3/30/22 Tr. at 129-35.) The first profile from the first swab matched James's DNA profile and Harris was excluded as possible contributor. (*Id.* at 134.) The DNA profile from the second swab indicated a mixture of at least two individuals and the major DNA profile matched

James's DNA profile. (*Id.* at 135.) Harris was excluded as a possible contributor to the major profile. (*Id.*)

The defense called Thomas Bevel (Bevel) who testified that he worked for a forensic science and consulting company and that the defense had provided him with materials from the case to review. (4/1/22 Tr. at 15, 70-75.) Bevel issued a report and summary stating his opinion that, based on blood spatter evidence, James was on the inside of the residence with the door partially open when he was shot. (Id. at 69-80; State's Exs. 179-80.) Bevel opined that after being shot, James had exited the doorway onto the porch and knocked over the metal handrailing as he fell to the ground. (State's Ex. 179; 4/1/22 Tr. at 132.) Bevel said he had ruled out the possibility that the blood spatter could have been caused by blunt force trauma injuries based on the evidence he was given. (4/1/22 Tr. at 48-49.) During cross-examination it became clear the defense had never provided Bevel with some of the evidence, including the Snapchat videos taken by Toni, the security camera videos, or the photo taken of James in the hospital depicting active bleeding from the laceration on his head. (4/1/22 Tr. at 70-92.)

Carvell testified on behalf of the defense and said he was out by the curb telling people arriving in cars that they could not come to the party when the gunshot rang out. (4/1/22 Tr. at 136-37, 142-43.) Carvell said the party was supposed to be small; his girlfriend Cheyenne had invited Victoria and Michelle,

who brought James with them. (*Id.* at 137.) Carvell said it was supposed to be them, Carvell, Cheyenne, Dawan, and his sister. (*Id.*)

Carvell said Dawan got "into it with this girl named Donna and her friend." (*Id.* at 141.) He said Dawan had "up two guns," meaning "[t]win . . . handguns, Glocks or something." (*Id.*) He said "the fights went crazy from there." (*Id.*) Carvell said Harris was not armed and that Harris only owned a BB gun. (*Id.* at 141-42.) Carvell said the PX-4 Storm firearm Harris was holding in a video was Dawan's gun and that they were just taking pictures with it on Christmas Eve. (*Id.* at 142.) Carvell said he did not see who shot James. (*Id.* at 142.)

Carvell said there were lots of fights that night. (*Id.* at 152-53.) He said there had been three fights in the hallway at the same time. (*Id.* at 153.) He said he was right behind James and Dawan in the hallway when they fell off the porch. (*Id.* at 152.) Carvell said he and Harris had been pushing people outside. (*Id.* at 152-53.) The State showed Carvell a photo still from the security camera footage. (*Id.* at 155-56.) The photo, taken right after the gunshot rang out, showed two individuals in white facing where James's body was found. (*Id.*; State's Ex. 129.) Carvell identified himself and Harris as the two individuals in white. (*Id.* at 156.) Carvell continued to assert that he did not see who shot James but said that Dawan was armed and he "was the last person on top of [James]." (*Id.* at 157.)

II. Sentencing

The district court held a combined sentencing hearing for three cases. (8/4/22 Tr. at 4.) The State played a compilation of three different Snapchat videos from Harris's account. (*Id.* at 28-35; Doc. 112, State's Ex. 2.) Harris's children were with him in the videos and in one they talked about running from law enforcement. (State's Ex. 2 at 0:00-0:09.) In the second clip, taken the day an alert announced Harris was a person of interest in James's death, Harris played a shooter video game and told his kids that Montana wanted their dad, so they were going to go to the Billings hospital and school and shoot everyone. (0:16-0:58.)

The State also presented a portion of a jail phone call Harris made after trial. (8/4/22 Tr. at 36-39; Doc. 112, State's Ex. 4.) In the call, Harris told another male that a guy in the jail was "smart as hell when it comes to law" and that he was helping Harris. (*Id.* at 0:00-0:47.) The cellmate had told Harris he should have pursued self-defense or mitigation. (*Id.* at 1:23-2:38.) Harris said his lawyer was visiting the following day and Harris was going to bring it up with him. (*Id.* at 0:47.)

The other man on the call told Harris that was what he had been telling him from the beginning too, but Harris would not listen. (*Id.* at 3:01-3:54.) The man said the decision had been up to Harris though. (*Id.*)

Harris responded, saying,

[W]hatever goes down, you know, I'm—I'm hoping for the best, but I put myself in this fucked up—that's why I'ma eat it. I'ma take it. I'ma

charge it to the game. Because I knew I wasn't ever supposed to come to my celly about shit, you feel me? And the judge only brought up my, my celly. You feel me? That's the only thing they brought up. They ain't got nobody else to go out. They, they witnesses were incredible.

(*Id.* at 3:55-4:21.)

Harris said the judge only convicted him "because of what [his] celly said and what [his] celly told them." (*Id.* at 4:59-5:05.) Harris lamented, saying, "I ran my mouth to my goofy ass celly, a white boy, racist ass white boy, and he went back and told everything on me." (*Id.* at 5:05-5:13.)

The other male on the call became angry, yelling at Harris, telling him he told him not to talk to his cellmate. (*Id.* at 5:13-5:42.) The clip ended with Harris stating, "yeah, I fucked—I fucked myself up." (Id. at 6:15-6:18.)

Referencing the jail call, the prosecutor said there was nothing mitigated about the homicide, challenging Harris's contention in his sentencing memorandum that it was some sort of "accidental discharge of a firearm during a brawl." (8/4/22 Tr. at 52.) The prosecutor pointed to Brice's testimony that Harris told him he was aiming for James's face but he missed and shot him in the neck. (*Id.*) The prosecutor reminded the court that Harris had tried to pin the murder on Dawan and asked several people to say he was not there the night of the murder. (*Id.* at 54.)

The State noted Harris's criminal history, including four Yellowstone

County cases Harris "picked up" during the four months he lived in Montana. (*Id.*

at 47-55.) Harris had assaulted his then-girlfriend on August 30, 2020, let his GPS monitoring unit die on September 21, 2020, been arrested on warrants on September 25, 2020, and then posted bond on October 1, 2020. (*Id.* at 48.) On December 13, 2020, officers had responded to the Rims after someone reported Harris was waving a gun around. (*Id.*) The prosecutor reminded the court that in that case Harris dismantled the back of the officer's patrol car and threatened to kill an inmate or officer. (*Id.* at 48-49.) Harris appeared on that charge on December 15, 2020, and posted his \$20,000 bond the next day. (*Id.* at 49.) "Just 11 days later, on December 27 of 2020, he murdered James." (*Id.*)

The prosecutor said there were many aggravating factors and recommended a life sentence at MSP for the deliberate homicide charge, 10 years at MSP for the use of a weapon, and 10 years for tampering, all to run consecutively. (*Id.*) The defense recommended 40 years at MSP for the deliberate homicide charge, 10 for the use of a weapon, and 10 for the tampering charge, all to run concurrently. (*Id.* at 57-58, 79.) He explained,

Your Honor, today Mr. Harris is going to take accountability for the death of James Williams. This has been long time coming. And of course, part of that is the State has forced our hand and part of this is as a result of conversation that I have had with Lorenzo.

He understands that in doing so he may jeopardize rights of appeal. He understands that there are consequences to this course of action.

(*Id.* at 58.)

Harris's counsel said the homicide "was a house party that turned tragic." (*Id.* at 59.) He said people were drunk and potentially high and James and Harris got into a fight in Harris's family's home. (*Id.*) Harris's counsel said he had discussed this with Harris, and Harris "knew that in order for any of those defenses to become operable or to be asserted, he would first have to admit to shooting James[.]" (*Id.* at 60.) He said Harris "could have asserted those defenses, Your Honor, had he been psychologically prepared to accept responsibility" but he had not previously been prepared to do so. (*Id.*)

Harris's attorney asked to present a video the defense had never disclosed to the prosecution. (*Id.*) He said the video would show the witnesses were not entirely credible, that there had been a gun on the ground, James had reached for the gun, and Harris had grabbed it. (*Id.*) He said it would show there was a fight between two males trying to get the upper hand and that no one knew what would have happened if James got the gun instead. (*Id.* at 60-61.) He said there was no solid evidence proving what started the fight between James and Harris. (*Id.* at 61.)

Harris's attorney said the court's findings of fact indicated there were several fights that night, including the fight between Harris and James. (*Id.* at 62.) He said the court had endorsed the notion that Carvell and Harris were attempting to remove individuals from the house. (*Id.* at 63.) He asserted that "[f]ights by definition produce extreme mental and emotion[al] distress." (*Id.*)

Harris's attorney said they had explored these theories before trial and, while they may not have been successful, they were "colorable" theories. (*Id.* at 64.) He again explained they did not raise them at trial because Harris was not prepared to admit to shooting James. (*Id.*) He said Harris wanted the court to see the video because he thought "that the video does show that it was spur of the moment, that it was, in fact, some form of mitigated." (*Id.* at 66.)

The court permitted the defense to play the video over the State's objection. (*Id.* at 70-72.) In the video, multiple people were just inside the front door, which was partially open. (Doc. 139, State's Ex. 1 at 0:00-0:03.) Multiple people, including Carvell, Cheyenne, and Harris repeatedly punched James, who was doubled over. (*Id.*) Harris, wearing a puffy white jacket with the hood up, stood in front of and facing James. (*Id.*) Harris grabbed James's shirt with his right hand. (*Id.*) Cheyenne—wearing a pink shirt and long jacket—and Carvell—wearing a white t-shirt—repeatedly punched James in the head while Harris held onto James's shirt. (*Id.*) A female yelled "Get him!" (*Id.*) Harris repeatedly punched James with his left hand while continuing to hold onto James's shirt behind James's head with his right hand. (*Id.* at 0:02-0:10.) James appeared to grab Harris's right hand, the hand that was grabbing James's shirt. (*Id.* at 0:07-0:09.)

Dawan entered from outside, pushing the door into James and the group assaulting him. (*Id.* at 0:04.) Cheyenne held onto the edge of the open door with

her left hand. (*Id.*) Harris and Cheyenne continued to repeatedly punch James in the head while Dawan entered the house. (*Id.* at 0:04-0:11.) A female yelled, "Get him!" multiple times. (*Id.* at 0:04-0:09.) Blood was visible on the back of Harris's puffy white jacket and on the right sleeve. (*Id.*) A female yelled "swing them hands" while they punched James. (*Id.* at 0:10.) Another female said, "You got blood on your jacket Zo." (*Id.* at 0:11-0:12.)

James was pushed toward Cheyenne and Carvell and, once Dawan was inside, Dawan hit James twice on the head with his left elbow. (*Id.* at 0:09-0:12.) One of Dawan's elbow blows appeared to break Harris's right-hand grip on James's shirt and Harris switched to grabbing James's shirt with his left hand. (*Id.* at 0:08-0:12.) As Harris switched hands, Cheyenne began to push James, and James grabbed Harris's right jacket sleeve with his right hand. (*Id.*)

Cheyenne pushed James down and forward, onto the ground. (*Id.* at 0:12-0:14.) The video depicted James, still holding onto Harris's right jacket sleeve with his right hand, catching himself with his left hand on the ground. (*Id.* at 0:12-0:14.) Harris continued to hold a bunched-up portion of James's grey shirt in his left hand. (*Id.*) A gun became visible on the ground near a laundry bin and another rectangular carboard item on the ground. (*Id.* at 0:14.) James's left hand was still on the ground, and James slid that hand away from the gun toward the laundry bin. (*Id.* at 0:14-0:15.) Harris grabbed the gun off the ground with his right hand while

James still held onto Harris's right jacket sleeve with his right hand. (0:14-0:16.) A female said, "Zo, you got blood on you. Let it go" (*Id.* at 0:15-0:17.) Blood drops were visible on the rectangular cardboard item under Cheyenne's right boot. (*Id.* at 0:16.)

Cheyenne and Harris pushed James out of the door. (0:16-0:18.) Cheyenne and Harris exited the front door at the same time. (*Id.* at 0:19-0:21.) The camera moved and Carvell was visible putting his shoes on just inside the door. (*Id.* at 0:21-0:22.)

The camera turned and faced the girl who was filming. (*Id.* at 0:24.) The female put her arm around another girl and said, "you look pretty." (*Id.* at 0:24-0:27.) While the two posed for the camera, a gunshot went off. (*Id.* at 0:27-0:29.)

After the court and the parties viewed the video on the record, Harris's counsel explained that the defense had not used the video at trial "because it was inconsistent with the defense that [they] had to present." (*Id.* at 74.) The defense said the court had broad discretion to sentence Harris within the 10-to-100-year range for deliberate homicide and asked the court to sentence him to 40 years based on the argument that the video depicted a mitigated homicide. (*Id.*)

The prosecutor compared and contrasted the contents of the video to the defense's sentencing memorandum and said it did not depict what the defense purported. (*Id.* at 76-77.) Harris's sentencing memorandum described Harris on the

ground with a 218-pound male on top of him. (*Id.* at 77.) The video showed James, "in kind of an upright fetal position" as the "blows land[ed] down." (*Id.*) Cheyenne, Carvell, Dawan and others all landed blows. (*Id.*) They "outnumbered [James] probably six to one." (*Id.*) "[A]t no point in th[e] video d[id] Harris appear[] to be in any danger whatsoever." (*Id.*)

The State said the video made clear that "[a]fter multiple people began beating up on James [], who was outnumbered five or six to one, [] Harris armed himself and nine seconds later shot [James]." (*Id.* at 77-78.)

Harris told the court he felt empathy for James's family and that he made a grave mistake when he failed to take responsibility for his actions. (*Id.* at 79.) He said he was empowered to live a different life, that he regretted many of his lifestyle choices, and apologized for the "tragic event that took place in [his] home." (*Id.*) Harris said he wanted to be there for his own kids. (*Id.*)

Harris said he was "extremely under the influence that night of the event and mentally distressed." (*Id.* at 80.) Harris asserted, "I also was scared for my life and I fear when I seen the gun on the floor and seen James going for the gun [sic]." (*Id.*) Harris claimed the whole thing was an accident. (*Id.*)

The district court said it was struggling with the assertion that Harris intended to take responsibility for shooting James based on his statements. (*Id.* at

80-81.) After being permitted to speak privately with his attorney, Harris told the court the following:

Yes, I am the man that shot James Williams that night. And it was all an accident. It was not to be trying to kill anybody or belittle somebody. [sic]

I was—I was in the heat of the moment drunk. I am the man that shot the man. And I'm sorry to—for the family. I want the Court to know that.

(*Id.* at 82.)

The district court told Harris it appreciated his admission to killing James. (*Id.* at 83.) Referencing the statutory sentencing considerations, the court said "there [we]re a ton of aggravating circumstances" in the case. (*Id.* at 89-90.) Harris used a gun, he "tamper[ed] with witnesses[,]" and drugs and alcohol were involved. (*Id.* at 90.) Harris was also subject to conditions of release in his other two felonies when he killed James, and his conduct violated many of those conditions. (*Id.* at 90-91.) The court said Harris's "criminal record [wa]s atrocious" in comparison with defendants outlined by the State and the DOC in their summaries of sentences imposed for similar crimes. (*Id.* at 91.)

Addressing mitigating circumstances, the court noted Harris was "only 29 years old . . . [a]nd this was a fight. This was a house fight in Mr. Harris'[s] house. I get that. I understand that. But Mr. Harris picked up a gun and finished the fight, finish[ed] the fistfight outside with a gun." (*Id.* at 91-92.) Because Harris was a

repeat violent offender, alternatives to prison were inapplicable. (*Id.* at 92.) The court outlined Harris's personal history and childhood events that likely led to his criminal behaviors. (*Id.* at 94-97.)

The court sentenced Harris to 10 years at MSP for witness tampering and 65 years at MSP for deliberate homicide, both sentences to run concurrently with each other. (*Id.* at 99-100.) The court sentenced Harris to 10 years at MSP for the use of a weapon in commission of the crime and explained that it was required by statute to run that sentence consecutively to Harris's deliberate homicide sentence. (*Id.* at 100.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should decline to exercise plain error review of Harris's claim that the district court erred by failing to sua sponte address whether he committed mitigated homicide before convicting him of deliberate homicide. The district court did not address mitigated homicide at that time because Harris made the strategic decision at trial to solely argue that he was not the shooter. At trial, Harris chose to withhold the evidence he believed supported a theory of mitigated homicide or self-defense "because it was inconsistent with the defense" that he did not kill James. Invoking plain error review would undermine the very purpose

of the timely objection rule and permit Harris to present a divergent theory after his strategic choice proved unsuccessful.

Even if this Court excuses Harris's failure to preserve his claim, Harris's claim still fails. Harris's sole theory at trial was that Dawan likely shot James, not Harris. If his theory had been believed, Harris would not have been found guilty of either deliberate or mitigated homicide.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of review

Generally, "[a] party waives the right to appeal an alleged error when the appealing party acquiesced in, actively participated in or did not object to the asserted error" in the trial court. *State v. Winter*, 2014 MT 235, ¶ 17, 376 Mont. 284, 333 P.3d 222 (citing *State v. Bomar*, 2008 MT 91, ¶ 33, 342 Mont. 281, 182 P.3d 47); *State v. Abel*, 2021 MT 293, ¶ 4, 406 Mont. 250, 498 P.3d 199 (citations omitted). This Court has repeatedly stated that it will not put a trial "court in error for an action in which the appealing party acquiesced or actively participated." *Winter*, ¶ 17 (citing *State v. Harris*, 1999 MT 115, ¶ 32, 294 Mont. 397, 983 P.2d 881).

As a narrow exception to the waiver rule, this Court may invoke plain error review of unpreserved claims if the defendant affirmatively establishes "(1) a plain or obvious error; (2) that affected a constitutional or other substantial right; and

(3) which prejudicially affected the fundamental fairness or integrity of the proceeding." *Abel*, ¶ 4 (collecting cases). An error is plain only if it leaves one "firmly convinced" that some aspect of the proceeding, if not addressed, would result in a manifest miscarriage of justice, call into question the fairness of the trial or proceeding, or compromise the integrity of the judicial process. *State v. Taylor*, 2010 MT 94, ¶ 17, 356 Mont. 167, 231 P.3d 79. A "mere assertion that an asserted error implicates a constitutional or other substantial right is thus insufficient—the party asserting plain error must affirmatively demonstrate satisfaction of all elements of the plain error doctrine." *Abel*, ¶ 4 (citation omitted).

II. This Court should decline to invoke plain error review of Harris's claim that the district court erred in failing to consider mitigated homicide before convicting him of deliberate homicide.

Harris asks this Court to exercise plain error review of his claim, raised for the first time on appeal, that the district court had to consider whether Harris acted under the influence of extreme mental or emotional stress, for which there was a reasonable explanation or excuse, when he shot and killed James before convicting him of deliberate homicide. Harris has not met his burden to establish a plain or obvious error that affected a constitutional or other substantial right, nor has he established that the alleged error prejudicially affected the fundamental fairness or integrity of his trial.

A. Harris has not met his burden to establish any error, much less plain error.

Harris cites this Court's holding in *State v. Black*, 270 Mont. 329, 331, 891 P.2d 1162 (1995), which states a trial court presiding over a bench trial "is *permitted* to" sua sponte convict a defendant of a lesser-included offense. (Appellant's Br. at 6 (emphasis added).) While Harris is correct that a trial court *may* sua sponte convict a defendant of a lesser-included offense, Harris fails to cite any authority stating that a court *must* consider mitigated homicide when neither party advances a theory of mitigation and the defense's sole theory is that he did not kill the victim. Without any authority requiring a court sitting as fact finder to address mitigated homicide before convicting a defendant of deliberate homicide, Harris cannot establish that the district court committed any error, much less plain error.

B. Harris has not met his burden to show that the claimed error implicates a fundamental right.

Harris offers no authority for his proposition that the due process clauses of the Montana and United States constitutions include the right to have a trial court address the lesser-included offense of mitigated homicide before convicting on deliberate homicide when the defendant's sole theory at trial, if believed, would require acquittal of both deliberate and mitigated homicide. This Court has held that a trial court is permitted but not required to sua sponte instruct juries on lesser-included offenses when the parties strategically choose not to ask for a lesser-included instruction, even when the evidence at trial would have supported a finding for the lesser-included offense. *State v. Sheppard*, 253 Mont. 118, 122-27, 832 P.2d 370, 372-75 (1992). In *Sheppard*, this Court specifically found that the district court's failure to sua sponte give the unrequested lesser-included instruction did not implicate Sheppard's due process rights. *Id.* at 124-27, 832 P.2d at 374-75. Harris offers no authority stating that failure to sua sponte consider a lesser-included offense in a bench trial implicates a fundamental right, nor does Harris distinguish or cite to *Sheppard*.

Harris strategically withheld the evidence he believed supported mitigation until after trial because he believed it was inconsistent with his claim that he did not kill James. Harris has not established that the court's failure to sua sponte address mitigated deliberate homicide before convicting him of deliberate homicide implicated his due process rights. Because Harris has failed to establish that any fundamental right is implicated, further analysis is unnecessary, and this Court should decline to exercise plain error review.

C. Harris has failed to establish that failure to review his claim would call into question the fundamental fairness of the proceedings.

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